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Introduction 

	British forces have had a presence in British Honduras, Belize, or the wider Caribbean since the mid-17th century. This presence has included Royal Navy, Royal Marine, Army and, more recently, the RAF. Over the years, force levels increased and decreased depending on the political situation with Guatemala at the time, and the inherent threat of a possible Guatemalan border confrontation. At times, force levels reached roughly Brigade strength with additional RAF and RN support.

	 

	The prime purpose of writing this book is to record, for posterity, the recollections, and memories of those who served in this theatre before the fog of time takes its toll on the memory, and personal accounts are lost forever. The earliest recollection is from 1961 and the last is from 1995, covering over a thirty-year period which experienced some of the highest tensions over the threat of a potential conflict with Guatemala. In addition. For those not familiar with the British presence in Central America I have included a brief history of Belize which helps to set the scene and help the reader to understand the long-standing relationship that British Forces have had with the country.

	 

	Serving in Belize during this time was an exciting experience for most young men. On the one hand you had relatively poor living conditions in some of the camps nearer the Guatemalan border; the harsh and inhospitable jungle when carrying out patrols; the routine task of manning isolated observation posts on the tops of the Maya and Toledo mountains overlooking the Guatemalan border; living with tropical storms and torrential rainfall. While, on the other hand, you had the improved living conditions of Airport Camp where you had a bed, showers, electricity, water, and a relatively comfortable quality of life. Once away from the duties of securing the border you had the opportunity to see the gentler side of Belize. You could visit the larger towns such as Punta Gorda, San Ignacio and San Antonio in the South and Belize City in the North. A tour of duty in Belize was definitely a ‘work hard – play hard’ tour. Off duty time could be spent playing all the usual outdoor team sports where duties and conditions allowed. The location and climate lent itself well to the more exotic and adventurous sports of scuba diving, water skiing and sailing. Additionally, there was the opportunity to take part in Adventure Training exercises in the surrounding tropical areas and cayes. There were boat trips to the various cayes where you could swim, fish, eat and sunbathe for the day. Off duty evenings could be spent trying the local drinks and food in the bars and restaurants in the local town or in the many NAAFI and unit bars that had sprung up wherever the troops were based.

	 

	Serving in what some would call a ‘Tropical Paradise,’ we can sometimes overlook the inherent dangers of the job we were there to carry out. Operational tours in challenging environments can present a high risk and Belize was no different. We must not forget that, unfortunately, lives were lost. The ‘In Memorium’ section, near the end of the book, provides a memorial to those servicemen who didn’t make it home. 

	 

	From the 1960’s to the late 1980’s, most photographs were taken on small, affordable, plastic Instamatic or ‘cassette’ style cameras where the camera came with the film pre-loaded in its own cassette, which you then loaded into your camera. There was little scope for making adjustment to exposures with these simple cameras, which were mainly of the ‘point and shoot’ variety. Consequently, the picture definition quality varied quite a lot. Most photos in this book were taken in a tropical climate, some in operational conditions, by non-professional photographers. Additionally, photographs tended to be printed out, put into an album or box, and would gradually deteriorate over time. Many of the photographs in this book have been scanned and have lost some of their definition in the process.  This is the type of photograph that I have had to work with throughout this book and I ask for your understanding regarding quality and definition. My view was that it is better to have a poor photo than no photo at all! To help any non-military readers get a better understanding of this book there is an Abbreviations and Military Slang section at the end.

	 

	Producing this book has been a collaboration and I would like to thank all those who contributed their memories, recollections, and photos throughout this period. The views expressed are of the individuals themselves, in their own words, reflecting their personal memories and experiences which may not reflect official military views at the time. Welcome to Between the Jungle and the Deep Blue Sea – Securing the Borders in Belize.

	 

	
A Brief History of Belize

	Firstly, a little about the history of Belize may be useful to understand the British presence there. Belize, previously British Honduras, is a nation in Central America bordering Mexico to the north and Guatemala to the west and south and has a long coastal frontage to the Caribbean Sea with many outlying islands known as Cayes.
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	The Maya civilization spread into the area of Belize between 1500 BC to 1200 BC and flourished until about 1000 AD. Several Maya ruins, including Cahal Pech, Caracol, Lamanai, Lubaantun, Altun Ha, and Xunantunich reflect the advanced civilization and much denser population of that period. The decline of Maya civilization is still not fully explained. Rather than identifying the collapse as the result of a single factor, many archaeologists now believe that the decline of the Maya was a result of several complex factors and that the decline occurred at different times in different regions.

	 

	The first recorded European settlement was established by shipwrecked English seamen in 1638. Over the next 150 years, more English settlements were established. This period also was marked by piracy, indiscriminate logging, sporadic attacks by natives, and neighbouring Spanish settlements. In the 16th and 17th centuries, Spain tried to maintain a monopoly on trade and colonization in its New World colonies, but northern European powers were increasingly attracted to the region by the potential for trade and settlement. These powers resorted to smuggling, piracy, and war in their efforts to challenge and then destroy Spain's monopoly. In the 17th century, the Dutch, English, and French encroached on Spain's New World possessions. Early in the 17th century, in south-eastern Mexico and on the Yucatán Peninsula, English buccaneers began cutting logwood which was used in the production of a textile dye. According to legend, one of these buccaneers, Peter Wallace, called "Ballis" by the Spanish, settled there, and gave his name to the Belize River as early as 1638. English buccaneers began using the coastline as a base from which to attack Spanish ships. Buccaneers stopped plundering Spanish logwood ships and started cutting their own wood in the 1650s and 1660s. Logwood extraction then became the main reason for the English settlement for more than a century. 

	 

	A 1667 treaty, in which the European powers agreed to suppress piracy, encouraged the shift from buccaneering to cutting logwood and led to a more permanent settlement. During the winter of 1717–1718 the notorious pirate Edward Teach, known as Blackbeard, harassed shipping sailing to and from the port of Vera Cruz in Mexico while sailing in the Bay of Honduras. In April 1718, at Turneffe Atoll, Blackbeard captured the logwood cutting sloop Adventure and forced its captain David Herriot to join him. Blackbeard then made Israel Hands captain of the Adventure and began sailing for North Carolina. Conflict continued between Britain and Spain over the right of the British to cut logwood and to settle in the region. In 1717 Spain expelled British logwood cutters from the Bay of Campeche west of the Yucatán. During the 18th century, the Spanish attacked the British settlers repeatedly.  The Spanish never settled in the region, however, and the British always returned to expand their trade and settlement. The 1763 Treaty of Paris conceded to Britain the right to cut logwood but asserted Spanish sovereignty over the territory. When war broke out again in 1779, the British settlement was abandoned until the Treaty of Versailles in 1783 allowed the British to again cut logwood in the area. By that time, however, the logwood trade had declined and Honduras Mahogany had become the chief export. 

	 

	The British were reluctant to set up any formal government for the settlement for fear of provoking the Spanish. On their own initiative, settlers had begun electing magistrates to establish common law as early as 1738. When the settlers began returning to the area in 1784, Colonel Edward Marcus Despard was named superintendent to oversee the Settlement of Belize in the Bay of Honduras. The 1786 Convention of London allowed the British settlers to cut and export timber but not to build fortifications, establish any form of government, or develop plantation agriculture. Spain retained sovereignty over the area. The last Spanish attack on the British settlement, the Battle of St. George's Caye, occurred two years after the outbreak of war in 1796. The British drove off the Spanish, thwarting Spain's last attempt to control the territory or dislodge other settlers. Despite treaties banning local government and plantation agriculture, both activities flourished. In the late 18th century, an oligarchy of relatively wealthy settlers controlled the political economy of the British settlement. These settlers claimed about four-fifths of the available land; owned about half of all slaves; controlled imports, exports, and the wholesale and retail trades; and determined taxation. A group of magistrates, whom they elected from among themselves, had executive and judicial functions. The landowners resisted any challenge to their growing political power. 

	 

	The earliest reference to African slaves in the British settlement appeared in a 1724 Spanish missionary's account, which stated that the British recently had been importing them from Jamaica, Bermuda, and other Central American British Colonies. A century later, the total slave population numbered about 2,300. Most slaves were born in Africa, and many slaves at first maintained African ethnic identifications and cultural practices. Gradually, however, slaves assimilated, and a new, synthetic Kriol culture was formed. Slavery in the settlement was associated with the extraction of timber, because treaties forbade the production of plantation crops. Settlers needed only one or two slaves to cut logwood, but as the trade shifted to mahogany in the last quarter of the 18th century, the settlers needed more money, land, and slaves for larger-scale operations. Other slaves worked as domestic helpers, sailors, blacksmiths, nurses, and bakers. The slaves' experience, though different from that on plantations in other colonies in the region, was nevertheless oppressive. They were frequently the objects of "extreme inhumanity", as a report published in 1820 stated. In the 18th century, many slaves escaped to Yucatán, and in the early 19th century a steady flow of runaways went to Guatemala and down the coast to Honduras. One way the settler minority maintained its control was by dividing the slaves from the growing population of free Kriol people who were given limited privileges. Though some Kriol’s were legally free, their economic activities and voting rights were restricted. Privileges, however, led many free blacks to stress their loyalty to British ways. The act to abolish slavery throughout the British colonies, passed in 1833, was intended to avoid drastic social changes by effecting emancipation over a five-year transition period, by implementing a system of "apprenticeship" calculated to extend masters' control over the former slaves, and by compensating former slave owners for their loss of property. After 1838, the masters of the settlement continued to control the country for over a century by denying access to land and by limiting freedmen's economic freedom.

	 

	Great Britain first sent an official to the area in the late 17th century, but Belize was not formally termed the "Colony of British Honduras" until 1840. It became a crown colony in 1862. Full internal self-government under a ministerial system was granted in January 1964. British Honduras faced two obstacles to independence: British reluctance, until the early 1960’s, to allow citizens to govern themselves and Guatemala's long-standing claim to the entire territory. By 1961, Britain was willing to let the colony become independent. Negotiations between Britain and Guatemala began again in 1961, but the elected representatives of British Honduras had no voice in these talks. George Price refused an invitation to make British Honduras an ‘associated state’ of Guatemala, reiterating his goal of leading the colony to independence. In 1963 Guatemala broke off talks and ended diplomatic relations with Britain. Talks between Guatemala and British Honduras started and stopped abruptly during the late 1960s and early 1970s. From 1964 Britain controlled only British Honduran defence, foreign affairs, internal security, and the terms and conditions of the public service, and in 1973 the colony's name was changed to Belize in anticipation of independence. By 1975, the Belizean and British governments, frustrated at dealing with the military-dominated regimes in Guatemala, agreed on a new strategy that would take the case for self-determination to various international forums. Between 1975 and 1979, Belize won the support of Cuba, Mexico, Panama, and Nicaragua. Finally, in November 1980, with Guatemala completely isolated, the UN passed a resolution that demanded the independence of Belize. A last attempt was made to reach an agreement with Guatemala prior to the independence of Belize. Independence came to Belize on 21 September 1981 after the Belize Act 1981, without reaching an agreement with Guatemala. By the time of Independence, British forces in Belize comprised 1 percent of the total population, but contributed 10 percent of the gross national product.

	 

	One of the most distinct communities in Belize is the Mennonites, who you would often see when you were out in the rural areas. With several different sub-groups, the history of how Mennonites came to live in Belize is a long and interesting one. Most of today’s Mennonites are descended from an old order of the religion which settled in West Prussia in the last part of the 18th century and the first half of the 19th century. At the time, the area was under the control of the Russian Empire and most of Belize’s Mennonites today are still referred to as “Russian Mennonites” even though their first language is Plautdietsch, related to German and Dutch. It was in the first half of the 19th century that the Mennonites immigrated to the Americas.

	Mennonites are easily identified by their clothing, except from the ones who have modernized to a large degree or have never been traditional, because they have converted in recent times. The women wear bonnets and long dresses while the men wear denim overalls and hats. The men may wear traditional braces and dark trousers. The women wear brightly coloured dresses. 

	In many of the Mennonite communities there is a softening of the old tradition. In Upper Barton Creek and daughter settlements, men and women dress like the Old Order Amish. Both Old Colony Mennonites and Noah Hoover Mennonites use horse-drawn buggies for transportation, but only the Noah Hoovers also till fields with horse-drawn implements.  Traditional Mennonites conduct burial services mainly in German, but with some parts in English so that visitors can take part. They use bibles like other Christians. The caskets are made of plain lumber which is lined with white cloth inside and black cloth outside. Expensive caskets are not used. A portion of the shoulder remains open during the service. After the rites the whole congregation files orderly to the front of the church to pay their last respect. In Spanish Lookout, members and friends of the deceased address the congregation after the obituary has been read. Tombs are not used, but a cross marks the name and spot. Before returning the body to the earth, hymns are sung. Members of the community take turns shovelling the earth until the burial is complete. After that the community comes together and feasts on bread, sausages, and coffee with the bereaved family. 

	Mennonites from the Noah Hoover group in Upper Barton Creek and daughter settlements are extremely restrictive concerning the use of motors and electricity, that is, both motors and electricity are forbidden in the settlement by the members of the group. Their clothing is very similar to the Old Order Amish, and men wear beards like the Amish. Therefore, they are often perceived as Amish and called Amish, even though this is not the case. This has caused some confusion.

	In Belize Mennonites contribute to the carpentry, engineering, and agricultural industries of Belize. They produce milk, cheese, beans, corn, melons, honey, chicken, and eggs. They have turned sections of tropical jungle into highly productive farmland and they are also skilled in manufacturing household furniture as well as constructing houses. Troops serving in Belize, especially those working in the border areas, would come across the Mennonites regularly and would often buy their daily milk and dairy products directly from their farmsteads.

	 

	
British Forces in Belize

	A British military presence in the West Indies was maintained, more or less continuously, from the mid-seventeenth century up to the latter part of the twentieth century. It became a source of increasing British interest in the eighteenth century, opening the path to conflicts with Spain’s territorial ambitions. 

	 

	Royal Navy

	While Belize had no permanent on-shore Royal Navy presence, naval support was available from the Senior Naval Officer West Indies (SNOWI) to Commander British Forces Belize for deployment when needed. The West Indies Guard Ship (WIGS) could provide an armed naval presence when required. This assistance has been called on several times over the years.

	 

	Army

	By the end of the Second World War, British Honduras was a sleepy corner of the empire. Headquarters Caribbean Area was formed in Kingston, Jamaica in January 1948 to replace the war-time HQs North and South Caribbean Areas. At the time, the only troop presence in the Caribbean was one infantry battalion stationed in Kingston, Jamaica with one company detached to Bermuda. 

	 

	In late February 1948 the Guatemalans threatened to invade British Honduras and the British Government ordered HQ Caribbean Area to dispatch troops to the colony. Two companies from 2nd Battalion the Gloucestershire Regiment landed in Belize from HMS Devonshire on 2nd March. One company was deployed to the border and found no sign of a Guatemalan incursion but the threat was taken seriously and it was decided to station one company in Belize City permanently. HQ Caribbean Area continued at Up Park Camp, Kingston, Jamaica, until disbandment in August 1962. 

	 

	In 1957 there was a second scare when Guatemala threatened to invade once more and an additional company of the Worcestershire Regiment was despatched from Kingston aboard HMS Ulster. On their arrival, the Guatemalans denied there was a problem. The additional company stayed briefly and carried out some jungle training before returning to Kingston. 

	 

	On 21st January 1958, the Hampshire regiment, at strength of one company, received news that a small force from Guatemala had crossed the border and raised the Guatemalan flag on British territory. A platoon was sent out to the border, located the intruders, and exchanged some fire with them. The intruders were Belize Freedom Fighters who had no doubt been aided and encouraged by Guatemala, but were badly organized and ineffective. 

	 

	In 1962, HQ Caribbean Area closed when Jamaica became independent and the resident troops went back to the UK. Consequently, infantry units from the UK now provided the resident company in British Honduras. The Duke of Wellington's Regiment provided the initial unit, followed by the King's Shropshire Light Infantry and the Staffordshire Regiment. The tour of duty for troops did vary over time but six-month tours became the norm. Due to the conditions and the shortage of married quarters, these were unaccompanied tours which meant that families were left at home. This also meant that troops could be located anywhere in Belize in basic camps, whether in the jungle near the border or with the Headquarters. The only exception to this was for some of the Officer posts and some specialist roles who were based at Headquarters British Forces in Airport Camp where families were allowed to accompany them. 

	 

	In 1970 the Guatemalans became active again, and a Spearhead battalion from the UK, the Gloucester’s, was flown to Belize so that a reinforced battalion was in situ to defuse the situation. Once the situation had settled, troop levels for the next few years returned to infantry company level with supporting units. 

	 

	In early 1972 Guatemala broke off negotiations and mobilized its troops along the border and on March 21, 1972, the British government announced that it had doubled the size of the British military force in Belize from 275 troops to 550 troops.  It achieved this temporary increase by deploying extra forces under Exercise CADNAM. As a result of the increased threat from Guatemala in 1972, future troop levels in British Honduras were discussed by the MOD and FCO. At that time, it was felt that the Guatemalan Army had the ability to deploy the equivalent of an infantry brigade with armoured reconnaissance and artillery support along with an airborne infantry battalion. The Guatemalan Air Force had a small number of ground attack aircraft which could be used against Belize Airport. All Guatemalan forces were considered well trained by Central American standards and it was felt that an attack could be carried out with little or no warning. At this time, British troop levels were based on one company of infantry, plus support, which was felt to be unable to prevent an attack on Belize airport.  The Chiefs of Staff recommended a minimum defensive force that could protect the airfield and cover its approaches for long enough to be able to introduce reinforcements. It was recommended that this minimum defensive force should consist of an infantry battalion, a troop of Royal Engineers, a Royal Signals detachment, and some army helicopters together with a detachment of six light anti-aircraft guns with an associated radar provided by the RAF. Practically, this was a difficult option as the infantry already had a big commitment to roulement tours in Northern Ireland and the RAF anti-aircraft resources were mainly tied to NATO roles. Additionally, it was felt that an increase in force size could also inflame relations with Guatemala further. Consequently, troop levels were not increased at this time. On June 1, 1973 the name of the colony of British Honduras was changed to Belize in preparation for independence.

	 

	In 1975 the talks with Guatemala broke off when tensions flared as Guatemala began massing troops on the border and Britain responded by deploying an enhanced infantry battalion, along with an RA battery of 105mm field guns, a Close Recce Troop of Scorpion/Scimitar CVR(T), an RAF Regiment 'Tigercat' missile anti-aircraft system along with the associated radar, six Harrier VSTOL fighters and a frigate. Following this deployment, tensions were defused but troop levels remained predominantly the same, except for the Harrier jets and Tigercat missile system which were withdrawn in April 1976, Leaving the L40/70 40mm Bofors Guns for air defence.

	 

	1977 saw the Guatemalans actually move troops to the border. A second battalion was immediately despatched to Belize which formed Battle Group South based in Holdfast and the other smaller camps in the South. The six Harrier VSTOL fighters returned to Belize along with the Tigercat missile system to the airfield. A Royal Navy frigate on the Caribbean Station moved in close to the coast to provide cover against an air attack near Stann Creek for the Battle Group stationed in the South. When Rapier became operational in the RAF Regiment in 1978, a flight of four Rapier systems took over the low-level air defence of Belize airport.

	 

	From 1977, the border was patrolled regularly and permanent observation posts were established to monitor key points. The Guatemalans made some unintentional incursions due to the ill-defined original border between the two countries but most problems were solved by tactful negotiations between British officers and the Guatemalan sappers building a road to the Belize border. 

	 

	After independence in 1981, Belize allowed the British Army to train and strengthen the Belize Defence Force and to protect the country from border incursions by Guatemala.  Remaining forces consisted of an army battalion and Harrier fighter jets of No. 1417 Flight RAF, along with some support units. There was a serious fear of a Guatemalan invasion in April 1982, when it was thought that Guatemala might take advantage of the Falklands War to invade, but these fears never materialised. After negotiations between Belize and Guatemala, Guatemala finally recognised Belize's independence in 1991 and diplomatic relations were established.

	 

	In 1994, British Forces Belize was disbanded and most British troops left Belize, but the British maintained a training presence via the British Army Training and Support Unit Belize (BATSUB) and 25 Flight AAC until 2011, when the last British forces, except for seconded advisers, left Belize. 

	 

	Royal Air Force

	RAF Belize was the Headquarters unit of all Royal Air Force units of British Forces Belize from the mid-1970s to mid-1990s when RAF Belize was subsumed into the remaining British Army garrison. Units included:

	
		HarDet Belize 1975–6, 1977 - 1981

		No 1417 Flight RAF (1417 Flt) 1981 - 1993

		Pumadet 1975 - 1981

		No 1563 Flight RAF (1563 Flt) 1981 - mid 1990s

		RAF Regiment Shorad squadrons 1975 - 1993

		Butcher Radar 1975 - 6, 1977 – 1993



	 

	The majority of RAF units were garrisoned at Airport Camp, adjacent to Belize International Airport (eventually named Philip SW Goldson airport) but some were deployed at other locations attached to British Army units; typically, Tactical Supply Wing (TSW) for refuelling helicopters and Tactical Communications Wing (TCW) and Tactical Air Operations Centre (TAOC) providing dispersed communications and close support communications with transport helicopters and ground attack aircraft.

	 

	In 1975, Guatemala threatened invasion of Belize and after a short period of preparation the RAF deployed 6 Harrier GR1's under Operation NUCHA. The initial RAF deployment became known as HarDet Belize.  After operating as a rotating roulement unit for two years, HarDet was put on an even more permanent footing with the formation of No 1417 (Tactical Ground Attack) Flight (1417 (TGA) Flt) from 18 April 1980 until closure on 6 July 1993. The six aircraft were operated from semi-permanent hides. Alpha and Bravo hides were set up in the grounds of the Belikin brewery outside the gates to the garrison. Charlie and Delta hides were set up on the other side of the garrison access road. Echo hide either never existed or formed the basis of the Tie-down engine running pan at the eastern end of the runway. Foxy (contracted from Foxtrot) and Golf hides were set up around the airport fire station (which remained active), even using some of the fire station buildings. Hotel, India, and Juliet hides were arranged around the access taxiway to Williamson Hangar and the edge of the airport apron. Later, the hides were concentrated at two locations either side of the runway in self-supporting sub-units: C-D hide, colloquially known as Charlie-Delta, and F-G hide known as Foxy-Golf. Charlie-Delta and Foxy-Golf hides developed into permanent semi-hardened hides with concrete surfaces and taxi-ways and block-built buildings, including accommodation, kitchen, and bars. The Puma helicopters of 1563 Flt were based at Williamson Hangar, operating from the airport pan until provided with their own helicopter operating platforms in 1986. Williamson Hangar also formed the hub for all engineering and supply support operations. Weapons storage was co-located with RAOC units at a weapons storage area near Airport Camp. Air traffic control, air defence and fighter control were based at Butcher Radar, with its own surveillance radar, opposite the airport aircraft servicing pan. Aircraft flown by RAF Belize units included the Westland Puma HC1 and Hawker Siddeley Harrier GR3, with occasional detachments from No 39 Squadron RAF with English Electric Canberra PR9 photo-reconnaissance aircraft. Logistical support from the UK was provided by Vickers VC10 and Lockheed C130K Hercules transport aircraft and, occasionally, Short Belfast C1 Strategic Transport aircraft. Throughout this period, the Army Air Corps provided a light helicopter unit, colloquially named "Teenie Weenie Airways", which operated, at various times, Westland Scout, Westland Lynx, and Westland Gazelle helicopters.

	 

	Orders for Opening Fire in Belize

	In any operational area where there is a potential threat of armed conflict, British Forces will be given formal orders for opening fire which states the conditions and circumstances when a soldier can use his weapon and open fire. In Belize, these instructions were issued to all forces and were part of their initial training on arrival. The printed card ‘Orders for Opening Fire in Belize’ had to be always carried while on duty

	 

	Belize Defence Force (BDF)

	Some of the stories and memories in the book make reference to the BDF so this book would not be complete without giving a short background on the BDF.  Historically, the first organized volunteer force in British Honduras was established in 1817 as the Prince Regent Royal Honduras Militia. This evolved into the Belize Volunteer Guard that was disbanded in 1977. The BDF came into being on 1 January, 1978, three years before Belize became independent and became operational on 3 January 1978. It consisted of 60 men, drawn mainly from the disbanded Police Special Force and the Belize Volunteer Guard. The BDF was established to assist the resident British forces in Belize with the Defence of Belize against Guatemala.

	 

	In order to set up and train the new force, the British government sent a British Loan Service Team to Belize. It comprised 4 officers and 4 senior NCOs who came in 1977 and worked in close cooperation with the Ministry of Home Affairs. These Loan Service Officers organized the recruitment and training of the soldiers, the layout and building of Price Barracks, the scaling, provision of equipment and stores for the Force. Loan service officers continued to be attached to the BDF for the next 20 years. In 1988, at the height of this attachment, there were 15 officers and warrant officers. In addition, there was a lieutenant colonel based at the Belizean Ministry of Defence in Belmopan who served as a military advisor. The role of this officer was to advise the Government of Belize on logistic matters, including offshore procurements and liaison between the Ministry of National Security, Belize, and the Ministry of Defence in the UK. The British Loan Service Team was disbanded on 30 November 1997.

	 

	The force starting with 60 men in 1978 and two years later it had grown to a strength of 285 regulars and 300 volunteers. By 1987 its total strength had increased to 700, with the maritime wing 46 and the air wing 15. By 1990, the BDF was 760 in strength, and in 1994 had grown to 850. In 1997, the strength of the regular army numbered about 1,000 and the reserve around 381. The air wing had a staff of 45 and the maritime wing 36. This amounts to an overall strength of approximately 1,381. 

	 

	Any Belizean aged 18 to 25 can enlist in the BDF after proof of citizenship and character references. After basic training of 16 weeks, army personnel sign initial three-year contracts with a possible maximum of nine years in the reserve.  Officers have to produce a high school transcript and pass a selection examination. They are commissioned for an initial period of six years.

	 

	The training syllabus in the BDF is similar to that of the British Army's with only minor deviations, owing to the differences in terrain and situation with which the Belizean soldiers are faced. Recruit training lasts for 16 weeks. The main course of training consist of drill, weaponry, map reading, tactics, field craft, military law and signals. In terms of the Maritime Wing, all ranks, including officers, are required to undergo initial training as soldiers at Airport Camp, Ladyville, after which training is carried out by the BDF Maritime Wing both ashore and afloat. Training ends with a graduation or pass out parade for privates.

	 

	Field training, both for the regular and reserve, was a high priority. In addition to the week-end exercises and bi-weekly sessions, the BDF and in particular the Regular Battalions were trained in general war, jungle and internal security operations. The BDF offered the Jungle Survival Basic Course, the Junior Warfare Basic Course and the Jungle Warfare Instructors course. 

	 

	In 1999, the Maritime Wing of the BDF was composed of two 20-metre Wasp vessels, the Dangriga and the Toledo. These two Brooke Marine patrol craft were gifts from the UK. In addition, the maritime wing has a number of small assault craft which are regularly used to enforce the fisheries laws and assist in anti-narcotics operations. 

	 

	The BDF Air Wing is based at the Philip SW Goldson International Airport with a complement of 5 aircraft. A Slingsby Firefly used to screen potential pilots and for basic flight training prior to sending students for formal military pilot training in Canada. 

	 

	Training was also offered to individuals at overseas military institutions. 41 Belizeans have attended Sandhurst. British Forces Belize, prior to its departure in 1995, also provided training. Six individuals attended the Staff College between 1981 and 1997.  

	 

	Before 1980, there were no females in the BDF. Its Female Platoon was started in July 1980 when a batch of 30 responded to the first call for recruits. They served as clerks, store keepers, medics, signalers and force police. Women were also found in the Volunteer Force, the Maritime Wing, the Air Wing and the Cadet Corps. In 1997, the BDF Female Platoon was 50 strong.

	 

	In 1992, the decision was made to withdraw the British Defence Garrison, stationed in Belize and place a greater responsibility on the BDF. Prior to the departure of the British garrison, British Army Training Support Unit Belize (BATSUB) was formed on 1 October 1994. Stationed at Airport Camp, which it shared with the BDF, the role of the team was to advise, assist and provide administrative and logistics support to Native Trail, a company jungle exercise mounted from the UK.

	 

	
Troop Locations

	The following map shows the approximate locations of the main camps and observation posts across Belize. Locations developed over time depending on the level of troop deployments and the threat from Guatemala
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	Airport Camp
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	Airport Camp was the largest camp in Belize and was located adjacent to the International Airport on the outskirts of Ladyville not far from Belize City. This was the location for Headquarters British Forces Belize and its supporting units and RAF Belize with its RAF detachments (Harrier jets, Puma support helicopter and Rapier air defence) and an RAF Regiment Squadron for the ground defence of the airport. The Infantry strength to defend the Headquarters varied over the years from a company to a battalion depending on the level of perceived threat from Guatemala. Butcher Radar was a surveillance radar used for air traffic control, air defence, and fighter control at Airport Camp in Belize from the mid-1970s to mid-1990s. RAF Regiment manned the Butchers Radar and air defence weapons for the protection of the airport. They had an amusing habit of standing next to the runway on the arrival of RAF flights to score the quality of the landing.
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	Holdfast

	Holdfast Camp was Located along the Western Highway near the Cayo district capital of San Ignacio, not far from the Guatemalan border. It is set amongst the fields of Central Farm. It consisted of Nissen type huts, storm trenches for the unwary and a light aircraft strip. It is some 70 miles from Airport Camp This camp was established in the early 70’s and was the main forward operating base in the North. By the 1980s, the camp housed a Combat Team consisting of a company of infantry, a Troop of RAC Scimitar - Scorpion light tracked armoured reconnaissance vehicles and an RA Battery with 105mm Artillery guns, along with other support troops. Infantry tasks included forward jungle patrolling and manning OPs watching the cross-border approaches from the Guatemalan border. In particular, the Cayo OP watching the cross-border approaches from the Guatemalan border town of Ciudad Melchor de Mencos. RAC tasks included patrolling the tracks along the border and recceing potential ambush position in the event of an incursion.
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	The troops generally operated a four-week cycle. One week spent guarding the camp and manning Cayo OP. Another week spent on short range patrols which operate along the border and the Western Highway. Then a week of long-range patrolling. During the fourth week troops concentrated on jungle training and field firing on Baldy Beacon.

	 

	Plassey
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	Plassey Camp – Watercolour by Geof Smith 1976-77
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	Driving west from Holdfast along the Western Highway you crossed the Hawkesworth Bridge into the town of San Ignacio in the Cayo District. Located just outside San Ignacio, the camp consisted of Nissen huts, but set on a hill beside the racecourse and with an excellent training area just beyond. The Guatemalan border was just over 8 miles away. This was smaller than Holdfast camp and housed a small infantry base commanded from Holdfast. This camp was established mid-70’s when troop levels were increased and provided a small base closer to the border area. Troops in Plassey came under the command of the Holdfast Combat Team and it shared the infantry tasks for Holdfast.

	 

	Rideau
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	Some 5 kilometres from Punta Gorda, Rideau eventually became the largest camp in the southern district. Housing a company of infantry along with elements of Royal Engineers, Royal Artillery, and other support troops. The main task of the troops was patrolling some of the remotest rainforest areas in the southern Toledo district. 

	Foot patrols were often deployed or collected by riverboat and helicopter. Foot patrols were sent out throughout the area, involving 8-10 men walking through the jungle on muddy tracks meeting the locals in their respective villages. The locals being Ketchi Mayan Indians. Another task would be manning the permanent OP at Cadenas. A duty which some loved and others hated.

	Boat patrols were slightly more fun as this involved the troops sitting in either a rigid raider or an assault boat moving up the main rivers in the area. There were very few roads and the main means of movement was by dugout. Consequently, the boat patrols would also visit many villages. One additional duty was the unloading of the RPL (Ramp Powered Lighter). This was a boat that came down from Belize twice a week and was the main source of supply, carrying all the food, drink, and stores. Loading and unloading this boat was hard work and not popular.

	Probably the most popular task was to man the Hunting Caye OP for a few days. This usually involved being flown out by helicopter to observe the passing shipping, particularly looking for potential Guatemalan aggression. It also helped build up your tan and improve your snorkelling and fishing skills.

	 

	Salamanca

	Salamanca Camp, in Toledo District, was originally the equivalent of Holdfast Camp in the north. It was established in 1975 as a tented camp by A Coy, 1st Battalion Gloucestershire Regt and gained its name of Salamanca from one of the regiments many battle honours. 

	Salamanca Camp was different from the other camps in Belize in two major ways. The camp was located in the jungle beside the Columbia River and at the foot of the Mayan Mountains and was 25 miles from the nearest civilisation and 14 miles from the border with Guatemala. This position could lead to a feeling of isolation which could make administration difficult, particularly during the rainy season, when there was a high level of rain fall. This often meant that movement of men or supplies became a major challenge. By the 1980s the camp was reasonably well appointed with adequate permanent living accommodation, a NAAFI, football pitch, basketball, and volleyball pitches. There were also video and film facilities that all the other camps had. However, Salamanca was a little different to the other camps as there wasn’t anywhere for the troops to walk out to socialise. No local bar or village to go to.
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	Salamanca mid-1970s – Mainly a tented camp at that time

	Salamanca was used as a Company level patrol base. Its tasks included forward jungle patrolling near Pueblo Viejo in the Toledo Indian Reservation and manning the Cadenas OP located some 185 meters above and watching approaches from the Guatemalan town of Puerto Modesto Mendez on the Sarstoon River. Another task was to man the Treetops OP overlooking the Guatemalan border.

	The majority of the troops worked on a 21-day roulement aimed at spreading the workload and relieving boredom. One of the most onerous task was the 7 days spent at the Treetops OP near the village of Jalacte. This was a jungle base on the border with Guatemala which was fortified with bunkers and trenches and provided a base to carry out patrols along the border and man the border OP. The main task of the base was to prevent the Guatemalans from repeating their attempts to build a road illegally into Belize. The most interesting task was providing the patrol platoon for 7 days. During this time the men spent 5 to 7 days on patrol in the villages, hills, and jungles of the Mayan Indian Reservations. The patrols were normally flown in by Puma to the border and they then walk back to the nearest road where they would be extracted. The final 7 days of the cycle is spent on the inevitable Guards and Duties, including fatigues. Fatigues mainly involved resupply and carrying out essential maintenance of the camp. This also allowed field firing up at Baldy Beacon and boat patrols of the Southern Rivers.

	 

	Cadenas OP 
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	Cadenas OP with HLS – Guatemalan barracks can just be seen top left

	 

	Located some 185 meters above Pueblo Viejo. The purpose of the OP was to watch across the Guatemalan border and monitor movement on the North-South Plumpton highway, river traffic on the Sarstoon River and the Guatemalan military camp just outside Modesto Mendez. At the base of the hill was a Belizean Police post. In the early days of the OP, before the HLS was built, supplies had to be hand carried up the steep hill using hand ropes as an aid. In late 1975, Alpha section from 1 platoon, 1 Glosters, arrived by assault boats from Punta Gorda and put the rope up the hill to make it easier to get up and down to where the OP was set up.  From the bottom of the hill, by the old police station, you had to carry your kit, supplies, water, and weapons up the hill. At the top the OP was originally set up without cover, having only ponchos to cover the shell scrapes. Over time the OP became more habitable, thanks to the RE, with stone walled accommodation, stone helipad for resupply and the luxury of a gravity fed rain water shower.
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	Police station on Sarstoon river below Cadenas OP. Photo: Chris Constable

	 

	Cayo OP

	Cayo OP watching the cross-border approaches from the Guatemalan border town of Ciudad Melchor de Mencos. Cayo OP was usually manned for a week at a time by troops based at Holdfast.
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	Cayo OP - All l really remember about the week l was there was having food poisoning and the bloody rats in what was called a kitchen. The lads were running around with fire beaters whacking the rats but they just got back up and ran off!!   Photo: Jason Hutton
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	View of the Guatemalan camp from Cayo OP Photo: Matt Cobley

	Hunting Caye OP

	Based on Hunting Caye, the purpose of this OP was to monitor shipping approaching from the Guatemalan coast on the Bay of Honduras. This was a favourite duty as it was a relaxing place to be on your time off watch.
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	Hunting Caye OP above and the postcard of the caye below
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	Treetops OP
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	Treetops OP overlooking Guatemalan village to the front. Photo:Steve McCully
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	Hand drawn map of Jalacte and Treetops OP layout. Photo: Jonathon Hack

	In 1979, a patrol found Guatemalan military engineers building a road just inside the border with Belize near Jalacte.  Jalacte is a small community of Mayan farmers in the Toledo district of southern Belize west of San Antonio. A permanent presence was then established there by one infantry platoon to observe and prevent any incursion by the Guatemalans going any deeper into Belize territory, this position became known as Treetops OP.

	 

	Cattle Landing

	Cattle Landing Camp was located several kilometres north on the coast from Punta Gorda in Toledo District, near Hopeville, 1.7 miles north on the coast from Punta Gorda. This watched over sea approaches. Up to 1982 there was a radar vehicle manned by RA personnel guarded by troops from Salamanca. The RE boat section was also based there with rigid raiders and assault boats. The RA Det also maintained and manned the 2 fixed Oerlikon 20mm cannons sited either side of the pier. This watched over sea approaches.
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	Photo: KS Steel
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	Cattle Landing - Live firing out to sea. Note the two Oerlikon 20mm cannons. Photo: Michael Sobota

	Baldy Beacon

	 

	A high point of 3350 ft in the Maya mountains which was used as a permanent VHF rebroadcast station to increase radio coverage of ground forces. The surrounding area of Baldy Beacon was also used as a firing range and training area for the RAF, Armour, and Artillery.

	[image: Image]

	Baldy Beacon Rebro Station - Baldy Beacon, one of the only place in Belize with mountains but no trees.
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	Baldy Beacon Rebro Station around 1977 – also known as the ‘OK Corral’ Photo: Steve Robbins

	Cooma Cairn

	Another high point of 3143 ft used as a VHF rebroadcast station and later also used by other detachments. The use of Cooma Cairn developed over time.
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	Cooma Cairn Rebro and Dets Photo: Paul Stratton
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	Cooma Cairn Rebro and Dets. Photo: Paul Stratton

	No Name Rebro

	No Name Rebro was an infantry manned isolated rebroadcast station in South Toledo district that was only accessible by air. Due to the size of the stone-built helipad helicopter pilots would have to hover with just the nose wheel touching the pad when they were loading and unloading. The location of the rebro allowed communication between the OP’s in the south and the bases in the south at Rideau, Salamanca, and Holdfast. The rebro was based originally on two C42 and later two PRC352 VHF Clansman radios. Usually, two men manned the rebro for a two-week period.

	 

	Over time, a hut was built to house the rebro and provide accommodation, including an open-air shower and toilet. This was constructed by Royal Engineers a week previously it was a tent. 24hr shift duty. Helicopters used for equipment and replenishment of food and water and visits by HQ staff and dignitaries. 
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	Puma coming in close to nose wheel hover on No Name Rebro. The most isolated outpost in Belize. 1989.      Photo: Dave Miles

	[image: Image]

	Deluxe shower. Photo: Kevin Docherty

	Jungle Warfare School Sibun

	Also known as the Jungle Training Centre it was based at "Hummingbird Cottage" just south of the Sibun River on the Hummingbird Highway.  Troops would rotate through the school for jungle training or familiarisation. Instruction was carried out by unit instructors allocated to the role guided by a special forces staff.
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